IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ARSHAVIR ISKANIAN, an individual, *Petitioner*,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

JUL 16 2012

CLS TRANSPORTATION OF LOS ANGELES, Respondent.

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

AFTER DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL, SECOND APPELLATE DISTRICT, DIVISION TWO CASE B235158

FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,
CASE NO. BC 356521, ASSIGNED FOR ALL PURPOSES
TO JUDGE ROBERT HESS, DEPARTMENT 24

PETITION FOR REVIEW

INITIATIVE LEGAL GROUP APC
MARC PRIMO (SBN 216796)
GLENN A. DANAS (SBN 270317)
RYAN H. WU (SBN 222323)
1800 CENTURY PARK EAST, 2ND FLOOR
LOS ANGELES, CA 90067
TELEPHONE: (310) 556-5637
FACSIMILE: (310) 861-9051
MPRIMO@INITIATIVELEGAL.COM

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Must California courts enforce representative action waivers requiring the aggrieved employee bringing a Private Attorneys General Act of 2004 ("PAGA") action to forfeit his or her substantive statutory right to represent "current and former employees" or to seek statutory penalties as a private attorney general?
- 2. Can the State of California, the real party in interest in a PAGA action, be forced to forfeit its right to PAGA penalties via a private agreement to which it was not a party?
- 3. Does the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") impliedly preempt the California legislature's exercise of its police power to promulgate arbitration-neutral statutes to enforce the state's employment laws?
- 4. Must a trial court enforce an arbitration agreement containing a collective action waiver even when a party demonstrates, by evidence, that his or her substantive statutory rights would be extinguished if the agreement were enforced?
- 5. Does a party that engages in over three years of active merits-litigation waive its right to compel arbitration by waiting until just before trial to seek to compel arbitration, simply because enforcing the class action waiver earlier would have been difficult but not impossible? Does being made to conduct class discovery, win a contested class certification motion, and begin trial preparation constitute prejudice to the plaintiff, when nearly all of that effort would be useless in "individual" arbitration?
- 6. Is a federal agency's interpretation of the statute within its core mandate entitled to deference by a state appellate court? May a California appellate court enforce a mandatory employment agreement containing a collective action waiver, even though the National Labor Relations Board ("Board"), authorized by Congress to interpret the National Labor Relations Act ("NLRA"), has held that such waivers violate Section 7 of the NLRA?

INTRODUCTION

Advancing an unprecedented reading of the FAA, the Court of Appeal issued a decision that threatens to sweep away, in one stroke, years of firmly-established California case law protecting substantive statutory rights from forfeiture by adhesion agreements. These decisions include:

- Brown v. Ralphs Grocery Co. (2011) 197 Cal.App.4th 489, rev. den.,
 2011 Cal.Lexis 10809 (Oct. 19, 2011), cert. den., 2012 U.S.Lexis 2934 (April 16, 2012) (No. 11-880) and Franco v. Athens Disposal Co. (2009) 171 Cal.App.4th 1277, holding that PAGA waivers are unenforceable;
- Reyes v. Macy's, Inc. (2011) 202 Cal.App.4th 1119, holding that PAGA claims are inherently representative under Labor Code § 2699(a);
- Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24
 Cal.4th 83, which prohibited enforcement of adhesion contracts that prospectively limit statutory remedies;
- Gentry v. Super. Ct. (2007) 42 Cal.4th 443, which promulgated a factintensive test in accordance with the U.S. Supreme Court's longstanding requirement that a party must be permitted to vindicate her statutory rights in whichever forum the claim is brought;
- Kinecta Alternative Fin. Solutions, Inc. v. Super. Ct. (Apr. 12, 2012)
 205 Cal.App.4th 506, which, along with Brown, recognized that Gentry remains the law in California unless and until the Supreme Court abrogates it;
- Numerous California decisions on waiver, including Hoover v. American Income life Ins. Co. (May 16, 2012) 206 Cal.App.4th 1193, Lewis v. Fletcher Jones Motor Cars, Inc. (2012) 205 Cal.App.4th 436, Roberts v. El Cajon Motors, Inc. (2011) 200 Cal.App.4th 832, Burton v. Cruise (2010) 190 Cal.App.4th 939, and Adolph v. Coastal Auto Sales, Inc. (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 1443, all of which found the defendants to

have waived arbitration on far less extreme facts.

By rejecting, implicitly or explicitly, no fewer than **nine decisions** from other California appellate courts and at least two from this Court, the Court of Appeal has engendered substantial doctrinal confusion requiring this Court's review.

The Court of Appeal reached its unprecedented holding without grappling with *any* of the numerous U.S. Supreme Court decisions that have limned the "vindication of rights" doctrine over the past quarter century-plus. Seizing on select passages from *AT&T Mobility v. Concepcion* (2011) 131 S.Ct. 1740 divorced from the facts of that case and the larger body of FAA jurisprudence, the Court of Appeal applies them mechanically to the very different record before it. In *Concepcion*, the Court found that the "aggrieved customers would be" essentially guaranteed' to be made whole," a finding that demonstrated that the plaintiff's statutory rights would be vindicated. (131 S.Ct. at 1753.) Here, the Court of Appeal's analysis appears to begin and end with the premise that the FAA's purpose is to "ensure the enforcement of arbitration agreements according to their terms." (Slip Op. at 7 [quoting *Concepcion*, at 1748].) But the Supreme Court has never endorsed the notion that "arbitration agreements must be enforced according to their terms" *regardless* of whether enforcement would eviscerate a party's substantive rights, as the Court of Appeal did here.

In fact, the FAA operates to make "arbitration agreements as enforceable as other agreements, *but not more so.*" (*EEOC v. Waffle House* (2002) 534 U.S. 279, 294; see also *Cable Connection, Inc. v. DIRECTV, Inc.* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 1334, 1366-67 (Baxter, J., concurring [discussing this maxim].) However, the rule adopted by the decision below actually elevates arbitration agreements *over* other contracts. Under the Court of Appeal's reading, substantive statutory rights that cannot be waived in an ordinary agreement *can be* waived in an arbitration agreement. This reasoning turns the FAA on its head, inverting the court's duty to "place arbitration agreement on an equal footing with other contracts." (*Concepcion*, at 1745.)

Moreover, although the Court of Appeal apparently believes otherwise, nothing in *Concepcion* indicates that the Court intended to overturn decades of FAA jurisprudence, including the seminal *Mitsubishi* decision. *Mitsubishi* was the first Supreme Court decision to hold that statutory claims, like breach of contract claims, can be compelled to arbitration under the FAA. However, the *Mitsubishi* Court also recognized that substantive rights cannot by extinguished by enforcement of what should merely be a choice-of-forum provision. Integral to the *Mitsubishi* holding is the principle that, "by agreeing to arbitrate a statutory claim, a party does not forgo the substantive rights afforded by statute; it only submits to their resolution in an arbitral...forum." (473 U.S. at 628.) *Mitsubishi* thus carefully circumscribed the FAA's reach to ensure a "standard by which arbitration agreements and practices are to be measured, and [to] disallow[] forms of arbitration that in fact compel claimants to forfeit certain statutory rights." (*Armendariz*, 24 Cal.4th at 99-100.) *Mitsubishi*'s explicit protection of substantive rights undergirds key decisions of this Court, such as *Armendariz* and *Gentry*.

The Court of Appeal's analysis of PAGA further illustrates the dangers of its improper and selective application of FAA doctrine. Under PAGA, a deputized aggrieved employee brings a representative action on behalf of "himself or herself and current or former employees" to enforce the Labor Code, with 75% of the penalty recovery allocated to the state and 25% distributed to the aggrieved employee. The PAGA statute contains no provision regarding arbitration.

Nonetheless, the Court of Appeal proceeded to dismantle the entire statutory design of PAGA by incorrectly treating PAGA like a statute that categorically exempts claims from arbitration, like the statute at issue in *Southland Corp. v. Keating* (1984) 465 U.S. 1. (See Slip Op. at 15.) This comparison fails. In *Brown*, the court, without reaching a conclusion as to arbitrability, only invalidated a representative action waiver because enforcing it would have eviscerated a substantive right and forced a party to arbitrate her "individual PAGA claim"—a result wholly at odds with the PAGA statute. *Brown* correctly

emphasized that PAGA was enacted as a "statutory representative action" designed to enforce the Labor Code through private attorneys general. Subsequently, the *Reyes* court bolstered this conclusion, confirming that PAGA is inherently representative and cannot be brought as an individual claim in *any* forum. By holding that PAGA claims can be individually arbitrated, the Court of Appeal's decision directly conflicts with these sister courts. Likewise, the Court of Appeal contravenes *Armendariz*'s prohibition against limitation of statutory remedies, as its enforcement of the representative action waiver essentially caps the employer's potential liability for PAGA statutory penalties—penalties that are measured on a representative basis—to just those of the individual.

The Court of Appeal also ignores the fact that, in a PAGA action, the real party in interest is the state of California. Under the Supreme Court's decision in *Waffle House*, the state cannot waive an enforcement right based on a private contract to which it was not a party. In a PAGA action, the aggrieved employee proceeds as a proxy of the state, collects penalties for the state, and the state is bound by a judgment in the employee's favor. (*Arias v. Super. Ct.* (2009) 46 Cal.4th 969, 980.) Because the state is the true holder of the claim, it cannot be forced to waive its claims by proxy.

These mistaken findings are premised on a sharp departure from prevailing preemption principles. PAGA is an arbitration-neutral exercise of the state's police power to regulate employer-employee relationships. For this statute to be preempted, there must be a "clear and manifest intent of Congress" to occupy a field traditionally reserved for the states, an analysis entirely absent from the Court of Appeal's decision. By enforcing a waiver that effectively exempts the employer from PAGA liability, the Court of Appeal has authorized the nullification of a state law enforcement action without even attempting to identify any Congressional intent to do so.

The Court of Appeal also creates a conflict by invalidating this Court's Gentry decision. Gentry comports with Mitsubishi, Gilmer and Green Tree Fin.

Corp.-Alabama v. Randolph (2000) 531 U.S. 79 ("Randolph") in holding that a class action waiver may be invalidated if a party can demonstrate, through admissible evidence, that arbitration would not permit a party to vindicate her unwaivable statutory rights. Randolph, which directly implicated the vindication of rights doctrine, remains vital, providing the impetus for a recent trend in federal court decisions striking class action waivers in arbitration agreements. (See, e.g., In Re: American Express Merchants' Litigation (2d Cir. Feb. 1, 2012) 667 F.3d 204, 214, rev. en banc denied May 29, 2012 ("AmEx III") [invalidating a class waiver upon proof that the plaintiffs' statutory claims would be forfeited in individual arbitration]; In re Elec. Books Antitrust Litig. (S.D.N.Y. June 27, 2012) 2012 U.S.Dist.Lexis 90190, *11 [invalidating class action waiver after the plaintiffs demonstrated that it would be "economically irrational for them to pursue their claims through individual arbitrations."]; Sutherland v. Ernst & Young (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 17, 2012) 2012 U.S.Dist.Lexis 5024, *22-25 [following Randolph] in invalidating a class action waiver on claims brought under the FLSA and state employment statutes]; Raniere v. Citigroup, Inc.(S.D.N.Y. Nov. 22, 2011) 827 F.Supp.2d 294, 313-318 [same].)

The Court of Appeal neither discussed nor distinguished *Mitsubishi*, *Randolph*, or any other Supreme Court cases setting out the "vindication of rights" doctrine. Without attempting to contend with *Gentry*'s foundation, the Court of Appeal hastily "overruled" *Gentry* and, in the process, upended long-settled California law.

Further, the Court of Appeal may not disregard the Board's holding in *D.R. Horton* (2012) 357 NLRB No. 184. Ignoring the Supreme Court-mandated deference owed to the Board in interpreting the NLRA, the Court of Appeal again misapprehends the issue as one of arbitrability even though the Board and the Petitioner made it clear that the violation of the NLRA is, in this context, a contractual defense. A collective action waiver that violates Section 7 of the NLRA renders the contract unenforceable under clear Supreme Court precedent.

(See *Kaiser Steel Corp. v. Mullins* (1982) 455 U.S. 72, 86 [holding that courts cannot enforce a contractual provision that promotes an unfair labor practice under the NLRA].) The Court of Appeal simply did not address this argument.

Finally, this ruling cannot be reconciled with California's waiver doctrine, since no documented case where waiver was found has presented more compelling facts. CLS initially filed its motion to compel arbitration in 2007, but subsequently abandoned its petition when the action was remanded on appeal for a factual showing under *Gentry*. Petitioner, relying on CLS's demonstrated intent to defend the action in court, litigated the matter as a class action for the next three-and-a-half years. CLS actively participated in class discovery, contested (and lost) a motion for class certification, and filed a summary judgment motion. Just months before trial, CLS sought to avoid class liability by "renewing" the same motion to compel arbitration that it had abandoned years prior. The trial court granted CLS's motion notwithstanding this extraordinary delay, and the Court of Appeal affirmed. By not finding prejudice on such an extreme set of facts, the Court of Appeal has cast the entire waiver doctrine into doubt.

The decision also credits CLS's "futility" defense, which excuses a party's delay in invoking its right to arbitrate only if it had been *legally impossible* to enforce its arbitration agreement before a change in law. However, in the past year, two published decisions, *Roberts* and *Lewis*, expressly held that this defense is unavailable for litigants citing *Concepcion* as the "change in law." By excusing CLS's conduct without even discussing these conflicting decisions, the Court of Appeal failed to articulate a sound rationale for its contrary holding. This opacity was reinforced when the Court of Appeal summarily rejected Petitioner's Petition for Rehearing, which focused on the decision's omissions of fact and errors of law regarding waiver.

Although this case should have been reversed on these narrow waiver grounds, the Court of Appeal unnecessarily seeks to generate a sea change in California arbitration and employment law, creating direct conflicts with and

purportedly "overruling" numerous California precedents. The uncertainty caused by this decision among the trial courts requires this Court's guidance. This decision emboldens California employers who will exempt themselves from civil liability by using arbitration agreements immunized from court scrutiny. If this decision takes root, California employers will demand arbitration not because of its traditional benefits of speed, cost-effectiveness and informality, but because it is a means to make any contract enforceable, thereby avoiding any liability for violations of California law.

Plenary review under Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1) is urgently needed to resolve these multiple conflicts and settle vital questions of law. In the alternative, the Court should grant review and hold based on co-extensive FAA preemption issues arising in *Sanchez v. Valencia Holding Co.*, S199119 (rev. granted March 21, 2012).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff-Petitioner Arshavir Iskanian brought this wage-and-hour class and representative action on August 6, 2006. (Slip Op. at 3) In February 2007, CLS moved to compel the action to arbitration, under an Arbitration Agreement signed by Petitioner in 2004.

This Agreement purported to cover any disputes arising out of Iskanian's employment, including both hiring by and separation from CLS. The final paragraph bound all employees, whether or not the Agreement was signed:

The foregoing provisions of this Policy/Agreement are binding upon EMPLOYEE and COMPANY irrespective of whether EMPLOYEE and/or COMPANY signs this Policy/Agreement.

(7 Appellant's Appendix ["AA"] 1975 [¶ 17].)

The Agreement also contained waivers aimed at precluding PAGA and other collective and representative actions:

(1) EMPLOYEE and COMPANY expressly intend and agree that class action and representative action procedures shall not be asserted, nor will they apply, in any arbitration pursuant to this Policy/Agreement; (2) EMPLOYEE and COMPANY agree that each will not assert class action or representative claims against the other in arbitration or otherwise; and (3) each of EMPLOYEE and COMPANY shall only submit their own, individual claims in arbitration and will not seek to represent the interests of any other person.

(Slip Op: at 2-3.)

On March 13, 2007, the trial court granted CLS's motion to compel arbitration, which Iskanian timely appealed. (*Id.*) While the appeal was pending, this Court rendered its opinion in *Gentry*. Based on *Gentry*, the Court of Appeal directed the trial court to vacate its previous order if it found that a class action would be a "more effective practical means of vindicating the rights of the affected employees than individual litigation or arbitration." (See *Iskanian v. CLS*

Transp. L.A. LLC (May 27, 2008, No. B198999), 2008 Cal.App.Unpub.Lexis 4302 at *3.)

On remand, rather than reassert its motion to compel arbitration, CLS abandoned its motion, electing to proceed with litigation. (Slip Op. at 3.) The parties subsequently exchanged substantial written merits and class discovery, including three sets of special interrogatories, four sets of requests for production of documents, three sets of requests for admissions and two sets of form interrogatories. (2 AA 419-20; 2 AA 434-510.)

With this supporting discovery, Iskanian moved to certify the class. Both parties contested this motion, debating every aspect of the certification analysis, including the admissibility and sufficiency of the evidence Iskanian offered in support. (See generally 2 AA 383-7 AA 1805.) The trial court granted Iskanian's motion to certify the class by order dated October 29, 2010. (7 AA 1788-1805.) The parties then conducted post-certification discovery. CLS subsequently filed a motion for summary judgment. (Rep.'s Trans. of Proceedings of June 13, 2011 [at A-25:18-22].) Three months before the trial date of August 16, 2011, and after the Supreme Court issued *Concepcion*, CLS "renewed" its earlier motion to compel individual arbitration. (7 AA 1806.) The trial court granted the motion on June 13, 2011, and Petitioner timely appealed.

Soon after the hearing on the appeal, the Court of Appeal issued a published decision on June 4, 2012, affirming the trial court's decision. Petitioner filed a timely Petition for Rehearing, which was summarily denied on June 26, 2012.

ARGUMENT

- I. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S RULING COMPELLING
 PETITIONER'S PAGA CLAIMS TO INDIVIDUAL ARBITRATION
 DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH CALIFORNIA APPELLATE
 AUTHORITY AND PREVAILING PRINCIPLES OF PREEMPTION
 - A. The Court Of Appeal's Ruling Creates A Direct Conflict With Brown And Franco

Foremost, the Court of Appeal's decision creates a direct conflict with *Brown* and *Franco*. Indeed, in rejecting *Brown*, the court below reached a holding that this Court and the U.S. Supreme Court both declined to make when presented with this very issue: that the FAA preempts PAGA's representative right of action. (See Slip Op. at 14-16.) Prior to *Brown*, *Franco* had held that enforcing a representative action waiver would preclude an employee "from seeking penalties on behalf of current and former employees, that is, from performing the core function of a private attorney general." (171 Cal.App.4th at 1303.) Based in part on *Franco*'s reasoning, *Brown* refused to enforce a representative action waiver, distinguishing *Concepcion* because PAGA is a public law enforcement action brought by the state through a proxy. The *Brown* court declined to hold that PAGA claims are inarbitrable, holding only that a PAGA action cannot be nullified via a representative action waiver. (*Brown*, 197 Cal.App.4th at 503 ["Even if a PAGA claim is subject to arbitration, it would not have the attributes of a class action..."].)

While the Court of Appeal clearly believes representative action waivers are enforceable without exception, its reasoning leaves much to be desired.

Instead of challenging *Brown*'s reasoning head-on, the Court of Appeal knocks down the straw man of arbitrability. (Slip Op. at 14-17) Petitioner chiefly argued only that *Brown* supports the invalidation of a representative action waiver. Both

¹ Petitioner did **not** argue that "a PAGA action can only effectively benefit the public if it takes place in a judicial forum." (Slip Op. at 15.) Petitioner's arguments regarding PAGA on appeal centered on the unenforceability of the PAGA waiver. (See AOB at 26-28; Reply at 15-17.)

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