No.S204032

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

ARSHAVIR ISKANIAN,
Plaintiff and Appellant,

vs.

CLS TRANSPORTATION
LOS ANGELES, LLC, et al.,
Defendant and Respondent.

SUPREME COURT
FILED

AUG - 6 2012

Frank A. McGuire Clerk

Deputy

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Two,
Case No. B235158

From the Superior Court,
County of Los Angeles,
Judge Robert Hess
Case No. BC356521

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID F. FAUSTMAN (SBN 081862)
YESENIA M. GALLEGOS (SBN 231852)
NAMAL TANTULA (SBN 247373)
CHARLES ZUVER (SBN 202635)
FOX ROTHSCHILD LLP
1800 Century Park East, Suite 300
Los Angeles, California 90067
Phone: (310) 598-4150

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

IV. DISCUSSION

A. Respectfully, Gentry Has Been Overruled.

The majority of judges who have addressed the issue, including the three judge panel below, have held that *Concepcion* explicitly overruled *Discover Bank*, implicitly overruled *Gentry*, and that the class and representative action waiver is enforceable in the employment context. See e.g. *Quevedo v. Macy's, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2011) 798 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1127, 1140 (*Concepcion* “undercut the reasoning” of *Discover Bank* and *Gentry*); *Zarandi v. Alliance Data Sys. Corp.* (C.D. Cal. May 9, 2011) No. 10-CV-08309, 2011 WL 182728, *1-2 (*plaintiff's argument that class action waivers are unconscionable “is no longer viable after Concepcion”*); *Morse v. Servicemaster Global Holdings Inc.* (N.D. Cal. July 27, 2011) No. C10-00628, 2011 WL 3203919, *3-4 n.1 (“*Concepcion* rejected reasoning and precedent behind *Gentry*.”); *Murphy v. DirecTV, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. Aug. 2, 2011) No. 08-CV-06465, 2011 WL 3319574, *4-5 (“it is clear to the Court that *Concepcion* overrules *Gentry*”). The dissent in *Brown* questioned the viability of *Gentry*. *Brown v. Ralphs Grocery Co.* (2011) 197 Cal. App. 4th 489, 505-09, J. Kriegler dissenting.

The Court should acquiesce in the judgment of these lower courts. Simply by denying review of this case, the issue will be settled.

B. The Court of Appeal's Ruling Does Not Conflict With Existing Law.

1. There Are No Substantive “Rights” Under PAGA.

The Labor Code Private Attorney General Act of 2004 (“PAGA”), Cal. Lab. Code §2698 *et. seq.*, prescribes a civil penalty for existing Labor Code sections for which no civil penalty has otherwise been established and allows aggrieved employees to bring a civil action to collect civil penalties for Labor Code violations previously only available in enforcement actions

initiated by the state's labor law enforcement agencies. *Caliber Bodyworks Inc. v. Super. Ct.*, (2005) 36 Cal. Rptr. 3d 31, 36-37.

An employee, however, does not have statutory right to automatically file a civil action seeking penalties under PAGA. "Only after" an aggrieved employee exhausts administrative procedures, may the employee seek penalties under PAGA. Cal. Lab. Code § 2699.3(a); *Caliber Bodyworks Inc.*, 36 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 384 (employee "must" first follow administrative procedures); *Baas v. Dollar Tree Stores, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. June 18, 2009) 2009 WL 1765759, at *5 (categorizing the timely exhaustion of administrative remedies as a "statutory condition precedent"); *Moreno v. Autozone, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. June 5, 2007) 2007 WL 1650942, at *4 (same).

PAGA also prohibits an employee action when the agency is already directly pursuing enforcement against the employer "on the same facts and theories" (Cal. Lab. Code § 2699(h)), or where after receiving notice from the employee, the Labor Workforce Development Agency ("LWDA") decides to investigate the employer and collect penalties itself (Cal. Lab. Code § 2699.3(a)(2)(A)). *See also Caliber Bodyworks Inc.*, 36 Cal. Rptr. 3d at 38 (the LWDA has the initial right to prosecute and collect civil penalties for alleged Labor Code violations).

Even if the agency authorizes the employee to proceed, the employee cannot bring a PAGA claim for *all* violations of the Labor Code. PAGA's application is limited to those provisions for which "no such penalty has been established" and cannot be maintained for violations expressly exempt from PAGA. *See* Cal. Lab. Code §§ 2699(f) & 2699(g)(2).

Further, an aggrieved employee is prohibited from seeking civil penalties under PAGA where an employer cures the violation and notifies the aggrieved employee of same. *See* Labor Code § 2699.3(c)(2)(A) ("no civil action ... may commence").

Thus, the notion that an employee has an automatic and unwaivable “statutory right” to pursue penalties under PAGA is refuted by the plain language of the statute.

Further, this Court has previously held that PAGA “**does not create property or any other substantive rights.**” *Amalgamated Transit Union Local 1756, AFL-CIO v. Super. Ct.* (2009) 46 Cal. 4th 993, 1003 (emphasis added). It is not the same as a claim for overtime, meal breaks, or minimum wage, and “is simply a **procedural statute.**” *Id.* (emphasis added). *Concepcion* sanctioned the waiver of a procedural right – the right to bring a class action lawsuit. *AT&T Mobility LLC v. Concepcion* (2011) 131 S. Ct. 1740, 1757. Thus, a representative action waiver is enforceable no less than a class waiver.

2. **Iskanian Does Not Conflict With *Brown*, *Franco*, Or *Armendariz*.**

The Court in *Franco* held that waivers of a representative action under PAGA are not enforceable. *Franco v. Athens Disposal Co., Inc.* (2009) 171 Cal. App. 4th 1277, 1303 (citing *Gentry v. Super. Ct.* (2007) 42 Cal. 4th 443). The *Franco* court, however, relied on the now overruled *Gentry* case in reaching this conclusion. See *Quevado v. Macy’s, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2011) 798 F. Supp. 2d 1122, 1142 (*Franco* “is no longer tenable in light of the Supreme Court’s recent decision in *Concepcion*”). *Iskanian*, therefore, does not conflict with *Franco*.

Iskanian and *Brown* were both decided by division five of the Second District Court of Appeal. The purported “conflict” between *Iskanian* and *Brown*, is illusory and inconsequential. The *Iskanian* court was not required to follow *Brown*, a case where the majority relied on authorities that were overturned by *Concepcion*. The majority in *Brown* relied on *Franco*, which relied on *Gentry*. Since *Gentry* was overruled by *Concepcion* in April 2011, *Franco* (and now *Brown*) are disfavored authorities. The Court in *Brown* addressed facts distinguishable from the

facts in *Iskanian*. The *Brown* court addressed a PAGA waiver in a *mandatory* arbitration agreement. In contrast, the *Iskanian* court addressed a representative action waiver that was in a *voluntary* arbitration agreement. The *same court* that issues a decision may later choose to depart from that decision particularly when necessary to correct a court-created error. *Sierra Club v. San Joaquin Local Agency Formation Comm'n* (1999) 21 Cal. 4th 489, 503-05. But we believe that United States Supreme Court has spoken on the issue [in *Concepcion*], and we are required to follow its binding authority.”)

The *Iskanian* court did something that the *Brown* court failed to do. It reconciled the U.S. Supreme Court’s directives that the FAA displaces outright state law prohibition of “arbitration of a particular type of claim” and that a state is unable to require a procedure inconsistent with the FAA, “even if it is desirable for unrelated reasons.” *Concepcion*, 131 S.Ct. at 1753. If this Court believes that *Iskanian* now conflicts with *Brown*, it is empowered to depublish *Brown*. This Court retains *sua sponte* authority to depublish *Brown* at any time. Cal. R. Ct. 8.1125(c)(2).

Petitioner’s contention that *Kilgore v. KeyBank, N.A.* (9th Cir. 2012) 673 F.3d 947, 961-63, does not support the *Iskanian* decision is also misplaced. In *Brown*, the court relied on the *Broughton/Cruz* rule to reach its decision that PAGA claims must proceed as representative actions because they are for the benefit of the “public.” *Brown*, 197 Cal. App. 4th 500-01. The *Broughton/Cruz* rule exempted UCL and CLRA claims for public injunctive relief from arbitration. *Broughton v. Cigna Healthplans of Cal.* (1999) 21 Cal. 4th 1066, 1080 and *Cruz v. PacifiCare Health Sys., Inc.* (2003) 30 Cal. 4th 303, 311-12. In *Kilgore*, the Ninth Circuit questioned the continuing vitality of the *Broughton/Cruz* rule and held that the rule was preempted by the FAA reasoning that “the very nature of federal preemption requires that state law bend to conflicting federal law – no matter the purpose of the state law.” 673 F.3d at 961-63 (noting that a

state's sound public policy rationales is irrelevant to determining whether federal law preempts their legislation). The *Iskanian* court correctly acknowledged that the continuing existence of “*Broughton-Cruz* rule” was doubtful in light of *Concepcion*. Slip Op. 16-17.

Further, *Iskanian* is not inconsistent with *Mitsubishi* or *Gilmer*, which stand for the proposition that where a party agrees to arbitrate a statutory claim, that party does not waive the substantive rights afforded by the statute; it only submits to their resolution in an arbitral forum. *Mitsubishi*, 473 U.S. 614, 638 (1985); *Gilmer*, 500 U.S. at 27-28. Here, Petitioner did not waive his right to pursue statutory penalties for himself in arbitration under PAGA, but merely voluntarily agreed to waive his right to pursue a representative action. The *Iskanian* court expressly noted that while the representative action waiver precludes Petitioner from pursuing a representative action under PAGA in arbitration, “we find he may pursue his individual PAGA claims in arbitration.” (Slip Op. 17.)

Further, *Iskanian* does not conflict with the principles advanced by this Court in *Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc.* (2000) 24 Cal. 4th 83. *Armendariz* held only that “an arbitration agreement may not limit statutorily imposed **remedies.**” *Id.* at 103-04.

In stark contrast, the language in Respondent's arbitration agreement does not limit Petitioner's remedies for the alleged wage violations whatsoever. In addition, the representative action waiver does not preclude Petitioner from pursuing civil penalties on his own behalf under PAGA. There is no principled distinction between a “class action” and a “representative action.”

3. There Is No Disorder By the Alleged Conflict Between *Iskanian* And *Reyes*.

The First Appellate District concluded that a PAGA claim could not be pursued on an individual basis because of the language of Labor Code section 2699(a), which states that an aggrieved employee may bring the

action “on behalf of himself or herself *and* other current or former employees.” *Reyes v. Macy’s Inc.* (2011) 202 Cal. App. 4th 1119, 1123-24. The Second Appellate District in *Iskanian* concluded otherwise. The *Iskanian* court directly addressed *Reyes*, but interpreted the use of the word “and” in the statute to mean that an employee may pursue a PAGA claim on behalf of others *only if* he pursues the claim on his own behalf. (Slip Op. 17, fn. 6.)

While the *Iskanian* and *Reyes* courts did not reach the same interpretation of PAGA’s language, this variance can hardly be said to have caused significant confusion with “vexed courts, arbitrators and parties.” In reaching its decision, the *Iskanian* court followed the Central District Court’s decision in *Quevado v. Macy’s, Inc.* (C.D. Cal. 2011) 798 F. Supp 2d 1122, 1142, which held that the plaintiff’s “PAGA claim [was] arbitrable, and that the arbitration agreement’s provision barring him from bringing that claim on behalf of other employees [was] enforceable.” In any event this distinction is irrelevant to the issue of pre-emption.

Iskanian is also consistent with the interpretations of federal District Courts throughout the state of California. *See e.g., Grabowski v. Robinson* (S.D. Cal. 2011) 817 F. Supp. 2d 1159, 1181 (“Plaintiff’s California [PAGA] claim is arbitrable, and the arbitration agreement’s provision barring him from bringing that claim on behalf of other employees is enforceable”); *see also Morvant v. P.F. Chang’s China Bistro, Inc.* (N.D. Cal. May 7, 2012) 2012 WL 1604851, at *12 (“the Court must enforce the parties’ Arbitration Agreement even if this might prevent Plaintiffs from acting as private attorneys general.”)

4. **Waffle House Is Inapposite And Does Not Conflict With Iskanian.**

The “only issue” before the U.S. Supreme Court in *Waffle House*, was “whether the fact that [the employee] ha[d] signed a mandatory arbitration agreement limit[ed] the remedies available to the EEOC” where

the EEOC filed an enforcement action against the employer pursuant to the Americans with Disability Act (“ADA”) in federal court. *EEOC v. Waffle House Inc.* (2002) 534 U.S. 279, 283, 297. The Court concluded that the arbitration agreement signed by the employee did not bar the EEOC from pursuing victim specific remedies such as back pay, reinstatement, compensatory damages, and punitive damages, in a judicial forum. *Id.* at 283-84. The court reasoned that the ADA and Title VII, the statutes enforced by the EEOC, did not authorize courts to balance the competing policies of the ADA and the FAA or to second-guess the agency’s judgment concerning which of the remedies authorized by law that it shall seek in any given case. *Id.* at 297. The court rejected the notion that the EEOC stands in the shoes of the employee and therefore should be bound by the arbitration agreement. The court explained that it had previously recognized several situations in which the EEOC does not stand in the employee’s shoes when it held that the EEOC does not have to comply with statutes of limitations or certain civil rules. Finally, the court explained that although the employee’s actions are relevant to the EEOC’s claim in the application of the principles of res judicata, mootness, and mitigation, that relevancy does not “render the EEOC a proxy for the employee.” *Id.* at 298. *Waffle House* is thus inapplicable, and does not conflict with *Iskanian*. Defendant does not contend that Iskanian’s waiver would preclude a state agency from enforcing provisions of the Labor Code. A representative action waiver in a voluntary arbitration agreement, such as the one at issue in this case, does not require the state to forfeit any rights, and does not conflict with *Waffle House*.

5. **The Presumption Against Preemption Is Inapplicable Here; The FAA Preempts PAGA.**

Under the Supremacy Clause of the United States Constitution, Congress has the power to pre-empt state law concerning matters that lie within the authority of Congress. *Farm Raised Salmon Cases* (2009) 42

Cal. 4th 1077, 1087. Absent a clear and manifest purpose of Congress to do so, there is no presumption against federal preemption when a state tries to directly regulate a matter traditionally within the power of Congress, rather than the state, and upon which Congress has acted.” *People v. Union Pacific Railroad Co.* (2006) 141 Cal. App. 4th 1228, 1247.

The federal government has regulated arbitration for almost a century. The FAA was enacted in 1925, and has been held to have sweeping pre-emptive effect. *Perry v. Thomas* (1987) 482 U.S. 483, 493 (U.S. Supreme Court held that the FAA pre-empts California Labor Code.) The FAA preempts state law, and governs the enforcement of employment arbitration agreements. *Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams* (2001) 532 U.S. 105, 123.

C. **CLS Did Not Waive Its Right To Arbitration; There Is No Conflict Of Law And Review Should Be Declined.**

1. **Waiver Is Highly Disfavored.**

“[California] law, like the FAA, reflects a strong public policy favoring arbitration agreements.” *Saint Agnes, Med. Ctr. v. PacificCare of Cal.* (2003) 31 Cal. 4th 1187, 1195 (“*Saint Agnes*”). Any doubts regarding waiver are to be resolved in favor of arbitration. *Moses H. Cone Hosp. v. Mercury Constr. Corp.* (1983) 460 U.S. 1, 25. Whether a party has waived arbitration is an issue of fact, which will **not** be disturbed by the appellate court if substantial evidence supports the trial court’s decision. *Engalla v. Permanente Med. Grp., Inc.* (1997) 15 Cal. 4th 951, 983; *Saint Agnes*, 31 Cal. 4th at 1196. The trial court below held that there was no waiver.

Waiver only occurs where a party: (1) took steps inconsistent with an intent to arbitrate, (2) unreasonably delayed in seeking arbitration, or (3) acted in bad faith. *Saint Agnes*, 31 Cal. 4th at 1196; *Keating v. Super. Ct.* (1982) 31 Cal. 3d 584, 605. “Mere delay...without some resultant prejudice to a party, cannot carry the day.” *Keating*, 31 Cal. 3d at 605; *Christensen v. Dewer Dev.* (1983) 33 Cal. 3d 778, 782.

2. **CLS Acted Consistently With Its Intent To Arbitrate *Gentry*, However, Paralyzed Its Ability To Do So.**

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